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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON
AT TACOMA

FRANCES DU JU, CASE NO. C185309 BHS

Plaintiff, ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFF'S
\Z MOTIONS TO VACATE AND FOR
DEFAULT, GRANTING
MAURICE LACOMBE and AIRBNB, DEFENDANT AIRBNB'S MOTION
Inc, TO CONFIRM ARBITRATION
AWARD, AND GRANTING
Defendants. DEFENDANT LACOMBE’S
MOTION TO DISMISS

This matter comes before the Court on Defendant Airbnb, Inc’s (“Airbnb”) mg
to confirm arbitration award and enter judgment, Dkt. 77, Plaintiff Francis Du Ju’s ('
motion to vacate arbitration award, Dkt. 79, Defendant Maurice Lacombe’s motion
dismiss, Dkt. 88, and Ju and Airbnb’s cross motions for default, Dkts. 90, 91. The C
has considered the pleadings filed in support of and in opposition to the motions an
remainder of the file and hereby rules as stated below.

I. FACTUAL & PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
A. The Parties & the State Proceedings

On April 20, 2018, Ju filed a complaint asserting numerous causes of action
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of Appeals, Division Il (“COA”),Lacombeand Airbnb Dkt. 1.Ju’s claimsarise froma
landlord-tenant dispute and subsequent judicial actions involving that dikpute.

In short, Ju rented a room from Lacombe in Vancouver, Washington through

Airbnb’s rental platform. Dkt. 1. During Ju’s stay she and Lacombe disagreed about

various issues typical of a landlord-tenant relationship, such as rent payment and g

menity

availability, and somewhat atypical issues, such as Lacombe’s alleged patronization of

sex workersld. Ju’'s occupancy dfacombe’spremises continued for months, and he
ultimately obtained a judgment evicting her throaghunlawful detainer action filed in
Clark County Superior Court for the State of Washingtdnlu appealed the judgment
the COA, where she raised additional claims relating to an alleged docketing consg
perpetrated by Lacombe and court cleniployees See Lacombe v. JA00 Wn. App.
1028 (2017) (unpublished). The COA affirmédl. Ju then commenced her suit here.

B. Procedural History

On December 5, 2018, the Court issued an order granting a nmtdsmiss

based on judicial and sovereign immunity and lack of sulpedter jurisdictiorbrought

by the State and the John/Jane Doe court employees (collectively referenced in prior

orders and hereinafter as the “State Defendants”). DKT.H&1Court concluded thatan
amendment of Ju’s claims against the State Defendants would bééasese she
attempted a de facto appeal prohibited byRbeker-Feldmamoctrine.ld. The Court
dismissed the claims against the State Defendants with prejldiia€13. On June 28,

2019, the Court entered judgment in favor of the State Defendants. Dkt. 76.

to
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1. Arbitration

The Court’'s December 5, 2018 Order also granted a motion to compel arbitr;

htion

brought by Airbnbld. at 13—-14. The Court concluded that a valid arbitration agreemgent

existed between Ju and Airbnb and that the agreement applied to Ju’s iclairhs.
Court stayed litigation between Ju and Airbnb until arbitration was “compldtedt
14.

On July 17, 2019, Airbnb filed the instant motion to confirm the arbitration aw
and enter judgment dismissing all claims with prejudice. Dkt. 77. Airbnb describes t
arbitration proceedings as follows:

Shortly after Airbnb filed its Motion to Compel Arbitration, Ms. Du
Ju settled all claims with Airbnb. Nonetheless, Ms. Du Ju still commenced
arbitration proceedings with the American Arbitration Association on
February 22, 2019. In those proceedings, Airbnb filed a dispositive motion
based, in part, on the parties’ settlement.

The Arbitrator, having considered the parties’ fully briefed
arguments, granted Airbnb’s dispositive motion on July 7, 2019, and issued
a final written arbitration Award. The Award concluded that “Claimant’s
claims are dismissed as previously settled and therefore the Arbitrator does
not award damages, fees, costs or expenses to her.” The Award has not
been modified, corrected, or vacated. Ms. Du Ju has not served any notice
of a motion to vacate, modify, or correct the arbitration award, but has said
informally in an email and letter that she plans to seek clarification of the
Award and/or file a motion to vacate under 9 U.S.C. § 10(a)(3).

Dkt. 77 at 2 (internal citations omitted). The day after Airbnb filed its motion to conf
the arbitration award, Ju filed a motion to vacat®kt. 79. On July 29, 2019, Airbnb

responded to Ju’s motion, Dkt. 82, and Ju responded to Airbnb’s motion, Dkt. 83. C
August 1, 2019, Airbnb replied to Ju’s motidkt. 85. On August 2, 2019, Ju replied t

Airbnb’s motion. Dkt. 86.
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2. Motion to Dismiss

On April 19, 2019,he Courtissued an order (“the April 19 Ordedgnying a
motionto dismissbrought by Lacombe for procedural error. Dkt. 69. Within the April
Order, the Court construed Ju’s response as a request for leave to amend her com
seeDkt. 61 at 9, 11-13, which the Court granted, Dkt. 69 at 2—4. To the extent that
sought to add to or clarify her claims against the already-dismissed State Defendar
Court denied leave to amerid. at 2. The Court explained that it was granting leave t
amend against the remaining defendants (Lacombe and Airbnb) because the factu
for Ju’'s claims against these defendants was confusing, leaving the Court unable t
subject-matter jurisdictiorid. at 4. As a result, the Court ordered Ju to file an amend
complaint by May 3, 2019 that specifically explaifexdvLacombe allegedly acted in
interference with her rights on each claloh.(citing Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twomb)y640
U.S. 544, 555-56 (2007). Because Airbnb and Ju had been compelled to arbitratio
the April 19 order issued, the Court explained in a footnote that “[t]he litigation stay
between Ju and Airbnb remains operative should the amended complaint require &
responsive pleading from Airbnb.” Dkt. 69 at 4 n.3.

The Court approved an extension of the deadline for Ju’s amended complain
on July 30, 2019, Ju filed an amended complaint (“FAC”) asserting claims against
Airbnb and Lacombe. Dkt. 84. On August 9, 2019, Lacombe filed a motion to dismi

FAC. Dkt. 88. On September 3, 2019, Ju responded. Dkt. 89. Lacombe did not rep
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plaint,
Ju

its, the
D
al basis
D assess

ed

N when

t, and

5S the

Y.

ORDER- 4



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

3. Cross-Motions for Default

On September 5, 2019, Ju moved for default judgment against Airbnb becau
Airbnb did not respond to the FAC. Dkt. 90. Also on September 5, 2019, Airbnb
responded, moved for defautipved to strike Ju’'s motion, and requested fees and c(g
associated with its filing. Dkt. 91. Also on September 5, 20a9¢epliedDkt. 92.

II. DISCUSSION

Airbnb movedo confirm the arbitration award and for entry of judgment
dismissing all claims against it with prejudice. Dkts, 9Z Ju moves for an order
vacating the arbitration award, Dkt. 79, and for entry of default against Airbnb, Dkt.
Lacombe moves to dismiss the FAC. Dkt. 88.

A.  Arbitration & Default Judgment
1. Motionsto confirm and to vacate ar bitration award

Under the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”), 9 U.S.C. &lseq.aCourt must
confirm an arbitration award when a controversy has been arbitrated pursuant to a
arbitration provision and the award has not been vacated, modified, or corrected. F
8 9. In this case, the Court previously found that a valid arbitration provision existec
compelled the parties to arbitration. Dkt. 54 at 13—-14. The arbitrator in that proceeo
issued an award dismissing all claims against Airbnb. Thus, this Court must confirn
award subject to Ju’s motion to vacate it. FAA § 9.

Airbnb filed a dispositive motion in the arbitration based in part on Ju’s allegs
settlement of claims against Airbnb prior to the arbitration’s commencement. Dkt. 7

Declaration of Kathleen C. Bricken, at 3—6. In response, Ju asserted that the settle

se
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agreement was not valid because she sent a letter to this Court advising of the setflement,

asking for approval of it, and requesting issuance of a@sedtitorder, which the Court
took no action onld. at 4. The arbitrator issued a written order ruling on the settleme
issue as follows:

Decision on Dispositive Motion. Airbnb’s motion to dismiss is granted, and Ms. Du
Ju’s claims are dismissed on the grounds that she settled all of her claims against Airbnb.

The validity and enforceability of a settlement agreement are determined by reference to
the substantive law of contracts. Stortlemyre v. Reed., 35 Wn. App. 169, 665 P.2d 1383
(1983). Accord, Veith v. Xterra Wetsuits, LLC, 144 Wn. App. 362, 183 P. 3d 334 (2008).
A contract exists when the parties’ intention is plain and the terms of a contract are
agreed upon, even if one or both parties contemplate later execution of a writing. Id.

Here, Ms. Du Ju made an offer of settlement to Airbnb. (Bricken Decl. Ex. D.) She
specified the manner and time of acceptance. Id. Airbnb responded as specified, before
the expiration of the offer, and unequivocally accepted the offer of settlement. /d. There
was consideration; namely mutual agreements that each party would bear her or its own

attorneys’ fees and costs in connection with litigation prior to the settlement. /d. There
was, therefore, a settlement.

The settlement was not conditioned on a writing, and in any event, Ms. Du Ju took the
position that a writing prepared by Airbnb’s counsel was “exactly the same as what I told
the Honorable Benjamin H. Settle in my 8/23/18 letter.” Response to Respondent Airbnb

Inc.’s Dispositive Motion to Dismiss Claimant’s Action as a Matter of Law
(“Response™), Ex. 1 at 5.

Ms. Du Ju does not dispute that there was a settlement. See Response at 1-2, 11. In fact,
she agrees that there was a settlement. /d. Instead, she argues that the United States
District Court did not approve it and that the Court’s referral to arbitration precludes such
a determination of settlement. Response at 5. But the settlement agreement itself was not
conditioned upon court approval, see Bricken Decl. Ex. D, and Ms. Du Ju has not
established that there was any applicable external, legal requirement for court approval.
As Airbnb argues, citing Pugh v. Evergreen Hosp. Med. Ctr, 177 Wash. App. 348, 356

(2013), this is not a special case, like a class action, where court approval would be
required to settle.

Dkt. 78-8 at 4.

Nt
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In her response to Airbnb’s motion to confirm the award, Ju argues the awar

should be vacated because the arbitrator (1) failed to include findings of fact or

conclusions of law and issued only a “memorandum” decision; (2) overtly disregarded

applicable law; (3) unfairly failed to consider Ju’s reply and surreply; and (4) wrong
decided the settlement issue. Dkt. 83 at 1-3. In her motion to vacate the award, Ju
that the arbitrator acted with manifest disregard of the law for similar reasons. Dkt.
Section 10 of the FAA permits vacatur when arbitrators refused “to hear evid
pertinent and material to the controversy” or are guilty of misbehavior which prejud
party’s rights, or “where the arbitrators exceeded their poivessA 88 10(a)(3)—(4).
An arbitrator exceeds her power for purposes of § 10(a)(4) wheadfsd outside the
scope of the parties’ contractual agreenigviich. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Unigard Sec. Ins.
Co, 44 F.3d 826, 830 (9th Cir. 1995). An award is outside the scope of the agreem
when it is “completely irrational” or exhibits a “manifest disregard of the |@orhedy

Club, Inc. v. Improv W. Asso¢853 F.3d 1277, 1290 (9th Cir. 2009) (citikgocera

Yy

argues

79.

ence

ced a

ent

Corp. v. Prudential-Bache T Seryv341 F.3d 987, 997 (9th Cir. 2003) (en banc) (intefnal

guotations omitted))*Manifest disregard of the law’ means something more than just an

error in the law or a failure on the part of the arbitrators to understand or apply the
Lagstein v. Certain Underwriters at Lloy’London607 F.3d 634, 641 (9th Cir. 2010)

(citing Mich. Mut. Ins. Cq.607 F.3d at 832)). To confirm an arbitration award, courts

aw.

need only determine that the arbitrators’ interpretation of the agreement was plausible.

! Section 10 provides two alternate bases on which courts may vacate an arbitratio
award, neither of which Ju raises in her motion. FAA 88 10(a#);)see alsdkts. 79, 83 at 6.
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Lagstein 607 F.3d at 643 (citations omittedge also McKesson Corp. v. Local 150,18
969 F.2d 831, 834 (9th Cir. 1992).

Upon review, the Court concludes that Ju fails to establish that the arbitrator

refused to hear pertinent evidence or committed prejudicial misbehavior sufficient tp

T

vacate the award under § 10(a)(3). For example, although Ju claims that the arbitrator

refused to consider her reply and surreply,af®@trator’'s written ordestates that the
dispositive motion was “fully briefed” and that she had “fully reviewed and consider
the written documents submitted to [her] by Claimant Frances Du Ju, pro se, and
Respondent Airbnb, Inc.” Dkt. 79-8 at 1. Moreover, while Ju contendshikeatad

insufficient time to respond to the dispositive motion under the Federal Rules of Ciy

D
o

Procedure, Dkt. 79 at 8-9, she fails to establish that the agreement required the arbitrator

to follow those rules. The Court declines to vacate the award under 8§ 10(a)(3) base
unfounded allegations @irejudicial misbehavior.

The Court also declines to vacate the award under § 10(a)(4). First, the arbit
determination thathe questionwhether settlement occurred was within the scope of t
agreement was plausible. Dkt. 79-8 at 4 (reasoning that provision that any dispute,
or controversy arising out of the terms of service is arbitrable encompassed Airbnb
defense that all claims had been settled). Nothing in the Court’'s December 5, 2019
compelling the parties to arbitratioendered moathe settlement that the arbitrator late
determined the parties hashched whiléirbnb’s motion to compel was still pending.

Second, the Court declines to substitute Ju’s belief that settlement was not r¢

'd on

rator’s

he

claim

S

order
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for the reasoned decision of the arbitrator. Ju argues that the agreement never bec
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final and cites authority identified by the arbitrator in reaching the decision that it wa

Dkt. 79 at 3—7. Ju, however, merely disagrees with the arbitrator’s conclusion reack

after considering relevant and applicable law. She fails to identify how the arbitratof

conclusion constituted error greater than a failure to understand or apply the law. S
fails to demonstrate how the arbitrator exceeded her powers by going beyond the s
the agreement. Thus, she has not established that the award was completely irratic
exhibited a manifest disregard for the l&amedy Club, In¢553 at 1290 (citing
Kyocera Corp,.341 F.3dat 997 (9th Cir. 2003jinternal quotations omitted)Therefore,
the Court declines to vacate the award under § 10(a)(4).

In sum, Ju’s motion to vacate the award, Dkt. 79, is denied. Because the aw{
issued pursuant to a valid arbitration agreement has not been corrected, modified,
vacated Airbnb’s motion to confirm the award, Dkt. 77, is granted. FAA § 9.

2. Motion for Default Judgment

Subject to its motion to confirm the arbitration award, Airbnb asks the Court t
enter judgment dismissing all claims against it with prejudice. Dkt. 77. However, in
September 2019u moved for entry of default against Airbnb for its failure to respon(
the FAC. Dkt. 90. Ju argues that default is appropriate because (1) the litigation sta
ended when arbitration was complete, which occurred when the arbitrator issued t
award on July 11, 2019, (2) Airbnb resubmitted itself to the Court’s jurisdiction on J
17, 2019, when it filed its motion to confirm the award, (3) the FAC was filed on Jul

2019, and (4) Airbnb failed to plead or respond to the FAC by August 13, 2019, the

1S.

ned
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] to

y

deadline required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(3). Dkts. 90, 92.
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Rule 15(a)(3) provides that any required response to an amended pleading r
made within 14 days of service of the amended pleading unless a court otherwise (¢
Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(3). In this case, the Court anticipated that requiring Ju to file g
amended complaint during the litigation stay could potentially cause confusion ovel

Airbnb’s responsibility to respond. To address this potential confusion, the Court

clarified in the April 29 order that “the litigation stay between Ju and Airbnb remaing

operative should the amended complaint require a responsive pleading from Airbnl

and Airbnb remain under obligation to inform the Court when arbitration is complete.

Dkt. 69 at 3 n.3. Thus, the Court exempted Airbnb from Rule 15(a)(3)a14-

responsive deadline by ordering that Airbnb did not have to respond to the FAC.

Siill, the crux of Ju’s argument is that she filed the FAC on July 30, 2019, afte

arbitration was complete, and so the Court’'s April 29 order did not excuse Airbnb’s
failure to respond. Dkt. 9@&heis also correct that the Local Rules do not permit a pa
who has filed a motion, here, Airbnb’s motion to confirm the award, to assume the
will grant its motion. Dkt. 92 at 2 (citing Local Civil Rules W.D. Wash LCR)7While
Ju’s motion is not meritless, because arbitration was indeed complete when she fil¢
FAC, the Court declines to enter default against Airbnb for two reasons.

First, the Court explicitly stated that Airbnb was not required to respond to th
FAC. Dkt. 69 at 3 n.3. It was reasonable for Airbnb to continue to rely on this direct
after arbitration ended because Airbnb achieved complete success at that proceed

namely, an award confirming that the parties had reached settlement with Ju agree

nust be

prders.

n

]

D. Ju
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dismiss all claims against Airbnb. Dkt. 28-‘Claimant’s claims are dismissed as
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previously settled . . . .”). Airbnb’s motion to confirm the award, and Ju’s motion to
vacate it, were ripe for consideration well before Ju moved for default on claims shg
knew the award had dismissed. Ju does not have a right to entry of default simply
because Airbnb did not respond to the FAC after the arbitration award dismissed h
claims as previously settled.

Second, the Court never authorized Ju through any of its orders to circumvel
arbitration proceedingsr resume litigation against Airbnb after arbitration was comp
Although the Court regrets the lack of clarity on this isthue April 29 Order makes
clear that the primary subject of the Court’s concern was the sufficiency of Ju’s
allegations againdgtacombe as the only remaining “active” defend&ete, e.g.Dkt. 69
at n.2, n.3, 4 (requiring FAC to include short and plain statements demonstrating hq
Lacombe allegedly conspired, participated in, or otherwise violated Ju’s rights).
Consequently, Ju’s motion for default is dented.

The Court, however, declines Airbnb’s requesittike Ju’s motion oaward
attorney’s fees and costs incurred in responding to it. Dkt. 91. Because arbitration \
complete when Ju filed the FAC and moved for default, her argument was not entir|
frivolous. Moreover, Airbnb fails to provide legal authority for either request. Thus, t
Clerk shall enter judgment dismissing Ju’s claims against Airbnb with prejudice but

award fees or costs

2 Because the Cougrants Airbnbs motionto confirm the arbitration award as stated
above, Airbnb’s cross-motion for default, Dkt. 91, is denied as moot.
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B. Motion to Dismiss

The Court previously granted Ju leave to amend because it was “unable to
evaluate the legal sufficiency of its jurisdiction” without clarity regardimgw/ Lacombe
allegedly acted in interference with Ju’s rights on each claim, entitling her to relief.”
69 at 4 (citingTwombly 540 U.Sat555-56 (emphasis in original)). Lacombe moves {
dismiss the FAC for (1) failure to state a claim and (2) lack of jurisdiction. Dkt. 88.

1 Legal Standards

a. 12(b)(1)

A federal court may not adjudicate matters in which it lacks subject matter
jurisdiction. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1). A district court lacks subject matter jurisdiction
hear a direct appeal from the final judgment of a state court, because the United St
Supreme Court “is the only federal court with jurisdiction to hear such an apieal.”
v. Hall, 341 F. 3d. 1148, 1154 (9th Cir. 2008¢e als®8 U.S.C. § 1257. The doctrine
known asRooker-Feldmamprevents “state court losers complaining of injuries cause(
state-court judgments” from seeking relief from those judgments before the district
Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Saudi Basic Indus. Cop44 U.S. 280, 288 (2005). In practice,
Rooker-Feldmaromes into play when a disappointed party seeks “not a formal dirg
appeal, but rather its de facto equivalehiall, 341 F. 3d. at 1155. In determining
whether a federal suit improperly functions as a de facto appeal, the court pays “clg
attention to the relief sought” by the plaintifianchi v. Rylaarsdan834 F.3d 895, 900
(9th Cir. 2003) (internal citations omitted). When a federal district court determines

de facto appeal of a state court decision is before it, it must refuse to hear the appe

Dkt.

o

to

ates

1 by

court.
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Hall, 341 F.3d. at 1158. After refusing to hear the appeal, the district court must alg

0]

refuse to decide any remaining issues if they are “inextricably intertwined” with an issue

resolved by the state court decisitth.at 1158.
b. 12(b)(6)

Motions to dismiss brought under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civ

Procedure may be based on either the lack of a cognizable legal theory or the absence of

sufficient facts alleged under such a the@&glistreri v. Pacifica Police Department

901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990). Material allegations are taken as admitted and the

complaint is construed in the plaintiff's favéteniston v. Robert§¥17 F.2d 1295, 1301
(9th Cir. 1983). To survive a motion to dismiss, the complaint does not require deta
factual allegations but must provide the grounds for entitlement to relief and not mq
a “formulaic recitation” of the elements of a cause of actall. Atlantic Corp. v.

Twombly 550U.S. 544, 555 (2007). A Plaintiff must allege “enough facts to state a

claim to relief that is plausible on its facéd’ at 1974.

2. Merits

The FAC alleges 16 claims against Lacombe as follows: (1) violation of the
Seventh Amendment; (2) violation of the Fourteenth Amendment; (3) violation of A
I, 8 3 of the Washington Constitution; (4) violation of Article I, § 21 of the Washingtg
Constitution; (5) deprivation of constitutional rights in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983;
conspiracy to interfere with civil rights in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3); (7) violati

of RCW 59.19.380; (8) violation of RCW 59.12.090; (9) violation of RCW Chapter

iled

prely

rticle
DN

(6)

n

O

49.60; (10) wrongful eviction; (11) breach of contract; (12) violation of RCW Chapte
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19.86; (13) retaliation; (14) outrage; (15) ex-parte communication; and (16) civil
damages from violation of RCW 9A.88.110. Dkt. 84. The Court concludes that eacl
claim fails under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), 12(b)(1), or both as explained below.
First Cause of Action—Violation of the Seventh Amendment

Ju asserts that the Clark County Superior Court deprived hguyftaial and that
the Seventh Amendment authorizes this Court to order a trial aatha@ssues. FAC 19
5.1-5.4 But the COA previously considereahd rejected her similar claim that the tria
court erred by failing to order a trial in the unlawful detainer actiansombe v. JuNo.
48992-9-11, 2017 WL 360208@t *1-3 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 22, 2017). Thus, the firs
cause of action attempts a de facto appeal that this Court lacks jurisdiction to adjud

The first cause of action also fails state a claim. Ju “alleges that [Lacombe] n

being ordered to go to trial within 30 days, among other unconstitutional and anti-st

benefits he received, violated the 7th Amendment and RCW 59.18.380.” FAC { 5.3.

Because Lacombe cannot be liable for the superior court’s actions, the first cause (¢
acton lacks a cognizable legal theory upon which this Court could grant relief.
Therefore, the Court dismisses Ju’s first claim.
Second Cause of Action—Violation of the Fourteenth Amendment
The second claim asserts that Lacombe violated Ju’s right to due process an
equal protection of the laws as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment. FAC 1]
6.4. Like the first claim, Ju fails to convince the Court that the second cause of actit

not a de facto appeal of actions taken by a state court judge. Moreover, by focusing

t
icate.
ot

atute

d
6.1-
DN IS
y her

ainst

pleading on the court’s actions, she fails to allege a plausible theory of recovery ag

ORDER- 14



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

Lacombe Seeid. 1 6.2. To the extent she asserts that Lacombe “conspired against 4
deprived” her of rights protected by the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses
Fourteenth Amendmenshe fails to plead even a single fact in support of this theory,
Thus, the Court dismisses the second claim.
Third Cause of Action—Violation of Art. |, 8§ 3 of the Washington Constitution
The third claim asserts a similar due process violation under the Washington
Constitution based on Lacombe’s “being granted” an “Order for Writ of Restitution,
being granted issuance of Findings of Fact and Judgment” in the amount of $3,975
“not being ordered to go to trial within 30 days . . . .” FAC { 7.2. Like the first and
second causes of action, the Court dismisses the third claim based on insufficiency
pleading and for lack of jurisdictidmecause it is a de facto appeal
Fourth Cause of Action—Violation of Art. I, 8§ 21 of the Washington Constitution
The fourth claim asserts a deprivation of the right to jury trial under the
Washington Constitution. The COA considered this cla®elaconbe 2017 WL
3602080, at *13, andso this Court lacks jurisdiction to hear the functional equivalen
an appeal. Nor can Ju state a claim against Lacombe based on the trial court’s acti
Therefore, the Court also dismisses the fourth claim based on insufficiency of the
pleading and for lack of jurisdiction.
Fifth Cause of Action—Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983
Ju alleges that Lacombe is liable under § 1983 because he “subjected, or ca

be subjected, Plaintiff to conduct that occurred under color of the State law; and thi

and

of the

, and

of the

[ of

ons.
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. S.

conduct deprived Plaintiff of rights, privileges, or immunities guaranteed under the
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Constitution and laws.” FAC { 9.2. However, Ju does not expaniacombe acted
under color of law, nor does she describe specific actions that Lacombe took—bey
evicting her through valid legal process—that deprived her of any right, privilege or
immunity that the Constitution guarantees. Consequently, the Court dismisses the 1
cause of action for failure to state a claim.

Sixth Cause of Action—Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983(5)

The sixth claim asserts that Lacombe participated in a conspiracy to prevent
hinder the State from providing Ju with equal protection of the laws. FAC § 10.2. Tk
Court agrees with Lacombe that the claim fails because the FAC “does not identify
act or acts conspired on or with whom Lacombe conspired with.” Dkt. 88 at 3. Ju aj
to believe this deficiency is due to the Court’s requirement that she not include in th
FAC claims against the already dismissed State Defendants. The Court wishes to
that it is not the omission of the State Defendant’s actions that caused the factual
deficiencies in the sixtblaim against Lacombe and the other claims as stated herein
Instead, the removal of those defendants only reinforces the Court’s view that Ju’s
against Lacombe are infirm and lack factual specificity bectngsearegrounded in
adverse state court rulings. The sixth claim is dismissed for failure to state a claim
lack of jurisdiction.

Seventh Cause of Action—Violation of RCW 59.18.380
RCW 59.18.380 is a section of Washington’s residential landlord-tenant act.

asserting a violation of that statute here, Ju attempts a de facto appeal of the landlc
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tenant issues she presented at the eviction proceeding that was affirmed by the CC
seventh claim is dismissed for lack of jurisdiction.
Eighth Cause of Action—Violation of RCW 59.12.090
RCW 59.12.090 is a section of Washington’s unlawful detainer statyte. B
asserting a violation of that statute here, Ju attempts a de facto appeal of issues pr|
at the eviction proceeding that were affirnsgthe COA. The eighth claim is dismissec
for lack of jurisdiction.
Ninth Cause of Action—Violation of RCW Chapter 49.60
The ninth cause of action asserts a claim for sexual harassment and/or sex
discrimination based on Lacombe’s association in his home with African-American
womenJu alleges are sex workers. FAC 1 13.1-13.5. Ju states that she is an Asig
American female who was “forced to interact with those [sex workers] and to share
washer/dryer with” them but fails to explain how Lacombe’s hosting guests of anoth
racewho use shared laundry facilities constitutes a cognizable claim of discriminatig
a public accommodation based on either her race or sex. Moreover, Ju raised her
allegationgelating to Lacombe’s guedtefore the trial court at the eviction hearing, a
therefore the issue is inextricably intertwined with a de facto appeal of that proceed
The ninth cause of action is dismissed for failure to state a claim and lack of jurisdig
Tenth Cause of Action—Wrongful Eviction
Like Ju’s other claims under the landlord tenant act and unlawful detainer ste

this claim attempts a de facto appeal of an adverse state court decision. For examy
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alleges that Lacombe “framed” her for nonpayment of rent while rent was not due Q
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on their agreement that she could pay at checkout, an issue squarely before the tri
at the eviction proceeding. The tenth claim is dismissed for lack of jurisdiction.
Eleventh Cause of Action—Breach of Contract
This claim asserts that the eviction was unlawful based on Ju and Lacombe’
contract. Like Ju’s other claims under the landlord tenant act and unlawful detainer
statutes, this claim attempts a de facto appeal of an adverse state court decision. T
eleventh claim is dismissed for lack of jurisdiction.
Twelfth Cause of Action—violation of RCW Chapter 19.86
This claim asserts a violation of Washing®@onsumer ProtectioncA(“CPA”)
based on Lacombe’s failure to provide services, such as internet access, that were
promised in the advertisement for the accommodation. FAC  16.1. Hode\asserted
at the eviction proceeding that Lacombe had violated the CPA based on the diminis
value of the accommodatioB8eeOpening Brief of Appellant at 3, acombe v. Ju200
Wn. App. 1028 (2017)2016 WL 8999751at *5—6. Thus, the CPA issue is inextricably
intertwined with Ju’s de facto appeal to this Court. The twelfth cause of action is
dismissed for lack of jurisdiction.
Thirteenth Cause of Action—Retaliation
Ju provides no statute or authority for this claim, but states that after she
complained about Lacombe’s visitors, he began “making loud noises intentionally 3
frequently either shortly after midnight when his shift ended or between 1:00 and 2

when he came back from exercise at the gym.” FAC { 17.1. Ju has not stated a clg
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“retaliation” based on her landlord’s allegedly noisy behavior.
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To the extent she argues that Lacombe’s act of hiring an attorney or filing the

unlawful detainer action is retaliation, FAC { 17.4, she attempts an improper feders
appealand fails to articulate a cognizable claim for relief. The thirteenth claim is
dismissed for failure to state a claim and lack of jurisdiction.
Fourteenth Cause of Action—Qutrage
Ju fails to state a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress. There ig
a single allegation against Lacombe in the entire FAC that would support a plausib
theory of relief based on outrageous conduct. The fourteenth claim is dismissed.
Fifteenth Cause of Action—Ex-parte Communication
Ju alleges that Lacombe “had been given information by the clerk assigned t
case on ‘numerous occasions’™ and that his alleged ex-parte communications with
COA included “any number of other questiGNSAC { 19.1 Yet, she again fails to
explainwhatLacombe’s alleged communications wesy his receipt of information
from the clerk would be improper, ahdwthe alleged communications violated any o
her rights. Thus, she fails to state a claim based on Lacombe’s alleged ex-parte
communications.

Moreover, she accused Lacombe of making ex-parte communications in a rg

|

not

e

o the

the

—

ply

brief filed in the COA, and therefore the issue is inextricably intertwined with her attempt

at a de facto appedlacombe2017 WL 3602080 at *1 n.1. The fifteenth claim is

dismissed for failure to state a claim and lack of jurisdiction.
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Sixteenth Cause of Action—Violation of RCW 9A.88.110
RCW 9A.88.110 is a criminal statute proscribing patronizexworkersJu fails
to explain how Lacombe’alleged violation of criminal law entitles her to a civil

recovery. The sixteenth cause of action is dismissed for failure to state a claim.

In sum, the Court grants Lacombe’s motion to dismiss all claims in the FAC for

failure to state a claim, for lack of jurisdiction, or for both as stated above.

3. Leaveto Amend

The Court previously granted Ju leave to amend. Dismissal of a complaint w
leave to amend is proper where it is clear that the complaint could not be saved by
amendmentThinket Ink Info. Res., Inc. v. Sun Microsystems, 868 F.3d 1053, 1061
(9th Cir. 2004). Here, Ju’s claims constitute an improper appeal of a state court jud
and/or fail to identify specific actions taken by Lacombe that would provide the bas
cognizable relief. Moreover, while a pro se complaint shoulibkeally construd, the
Court will not supply essential elements of a plaintiff's claiSee Ivey v. Bd. of Regen
of the Univ. of Alaske673F.2d 266, 268 (9th Cir. 1982). The FAC makes clear that t
gravemen of Ju’s claims against Lacombe are actions taken by the state court judg
ruled against her in the unlawful detainer proceeding and on afjpedlourt therefore
concludes thiaany anendment would be futile.

1. ORDER

Therefore, it is hereb@ RDERED that Airbnb’s motion to confirm arbitration

award and enter judgment, DK, is GRANTED, Ju’s motion to vacate, DKI9, and
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motion for default, Dkt. 90areDENIED, and Lacombe’s motion to dismiss, Dkt. 88, i
GRANTED. Airbnb’s cross motion for default, Dkt. 91,¥=NIED as moot.

The Clerk shall entetUDGMENT dismissing Ju’s claims against Lacombe an
Airbnb with prejudice and close thisise.

Dated this 18tlday d October, 2019.

e

BENJAMIN H. SETTLE
United States District Judge
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